

Definitive global law guides offering comparative analysis from top-ranked lawyers

Enforcement of Judgments 2021

Cayman Islands
Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey
Campbells

CAYMAN ISLANDS

Law and Practice

Contributed by:

Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey Campbells see p.14



CONTENTS

1. lo	dentifying Assets in the Jurisdiction	p.3
1.1	Options to Identify Another Party's Asset Posit	tion p.3
2. [Oomestic Judgments	p.3
2.1	Types of Domestic Judgments	р.3
2.2	Enforcement of Domestic Judgments	p.4
2.3	Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Domestic Judgments	p.7
2.4	Post-judgment Procedures for Determining Defendants' Assets	p.8
2.5	Challenging Enforcement of Domestic Judgments	p.8
2.6	Unenforceable Domestic Judgments	p.9
2.7	Register of Domestic Judgments	p.9
3. F	Foreign Judgments	p.9
3.1	Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Foreign Judgments	p.9
3.2	Variations in Approach to Enforcement of Foreign Judgments	p.9
3.3	Categories of Foreign Judgments Not Enforced	p.10
3.4	Process of Enforcing Foreign Judgments	p.10
3.5	Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Foreign Judgments	p.10
3.6	Challenging Enforcement of Foreign Judgments	p.11

4. Arbitral Awards		p.11
4.1	Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Arbitral Awards	p.11
4.2	Variations in Approach to Enforcement of Arbitral Awards	p.12
4.3	Categories of Arbitral Awards Not Enforced	p.12
4.4	Process of Enforcing Arbitral Awards	p.12
4.5	Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Arbitral Awards	p.12
4.6	Challenging Enforcement of Arbitral Awards	p.12

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

1. IDENTIFYING ASSETS IN THE JURISDICTION

1.1 Options to Identify Another Party's Asset Position

In Cayman Islands litigation, there is no general obligation upon a party to disclose their asset position, and publicly available information is limited.

There are central ownership registers for land, ships, aircraft and motor vehicles, but not for other types of movable or immovable property. Information contained in company share registers, and in the newly introduced beneficial ownership register, is not publicly available.

However, the Cayman Islands courts will, in appropriate cases, make asset disclosure orders in support of freezing injunctions. Likewise, there is a well-established and flexible jurisdiction to grant Norwich Pharmacal and Bankers Trust relief in order to obtain information from an innocent party who has become "mixed up" in wrongdoing. The respondents to such applications in the Cayman Islands are typically banks and corporate services providers.

Once a judgment has been obtained, it is possible to examine the judgment debtor as to their assets, as discussed in 2.4 Post-judgment Procedures for Determining Defendants' Assets.

2. DOMESTIC JUDGMENTS

2.1 Types of Domestic Judgments

A wide range of judgments and orders are available in the Cayman Islands, reflecting the diverse range of international and domestic cases before the courts.

Judgments may be obtained by default (if, for example, a defendant fails to respond to a sum-

mons), summarily (that is, without a trial) or following a contested trial.

The available juridical remedies broadly correspond to those available in England and Wales, and include the following.

- Legal remedies, such as an award of compensatory monetary damages.
- · Equitable remedies such as:
 - (a) specific performance;
 - (b) injunctive relief (including freezing and proprietary injunctions);
 - (c) account of profits;
 - (d) constructive trust;
 - (e) restitution;
 - (f) rescission; and
 - (g) rectification.
- Declaratory relief, whereby the court determines the rights, duties or obligations of one or more parties to a dispute without ordering damages or requiring further action.

To place this in context, the litigation landscape includes major substantive claims pursued by writ action in the specialist Financial Services Division of the Grand Court and the Cayman Islands Court of Appeal. For example, in recent years the Cayman Islands courts have heard an approximately USD2 billion claim brought by a Madoff feeder fund against its custodian/administrator (the Primeo litigation) and an approximately USD9 billion fraud claim involving a series of Cayman Islands companies connected to Saudi Arabia (the Saad litigation).

The Financial Services Division also hears all insolvency proceedings in respect of Cayman Islands companies and exempted limited partnerships, which are typically investment vehicles for hedge fund and private equity structures. The primary available relief is a winding-up order placing a company into official liquidation and appointing liquidators (although, if the grounds

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

for a just and equitable winding-up are established, the court may, in its discretion, grant alternative remedies). If the company is wound up, the company's liquidation will be supervised by the court, which will, for example, determine applications brought by the liquidators for sanction to exercise certain powers, such as their power of sale of the company's assets.

The Cayman Islands also has a well-developed provisional liquidation regime, which provides a means for a distressed company to seek protection from creditor claims while court-appointed provisional liquidators promote (or supervise the directors in promoting) a compromise or arrangement with creditors.

Another notable stream of Cayman Islands litigation concerns the statutory merger regime, pursuant to Section 238 of the Companies Law. In summary, this regime permits a dissenting shareholder to seek "fair value" for its shares rather than receive the price otherwise payable under the merger agreement. Such litigation is heavily contested, involving expert evidence as to the value of the shares in question, and it will result in a judgment according to the court's findings about the fair value of those shares.

The courts also have a jurisdiction to grant a variety of free-standing interlocutory relief in certain cases, such as freezing orders in aid of foreign proceedings and anti-suit injunctions to restrain foreign proceedings brought vexatiously or in breach of contract.

Finally, the courts will determine the costs of the proceedings, generally on the basis that the loser shall pay the winner's costs. Costs are taxed (assessed), if not agreed, following the conclusion of the proceedings.

2.2 Enforcement of Domestic Judgments

A Cayman Islands judgment may be enforced within the jurisdiction by various means, having regard to the nature of the judgment and relief. Domestic judgments are enforceable in the Cayman Islands within six years of their delivery.

A judgment for the payment of money may be enforced by:

- a writ of fieri facias (a writ of execution leading to an order directing the court bailiff to seize assets in order to satisfy the judgment debt);
- garnishee proceedings (where the court directs a third party that owes money to the judgment debtor to pay the judgment creditor instead);
- · a charging order over land or other assets;
- an attachment of earnings order (redirecting a portion of the judgment debtor's wages to the judgment creditor);
- a writ of sequestration (a general seizure of property);
- the appointment of a receiver; and/or
- committal for contempt.

Failure to satisfy a money judgment also provides grounds for the judgment creditor to bring insolvency proceedings against the judgment debtor.

A judgment for the possession of land or the delivery of goods may be enforced by a writ of possession or delivery of goods, an order for committal and/or a writ of sequestration.

A judgment requiring a person to perform or refrain from performing any act may ultimately be enforced by a writ of sequestration, including against the property of any director or other officer of a corporate judgment debtor. Committal for contempt is also possible, including

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

against any such officer. The court also has the power to make a further order requiring the act to be done within another specified period of time or by another person at the expense of the disobedient party.

Procedure

The required procedure, stipulated in the Grand Court Rules (GCR), will depend upon the chosen method of execution, as summarised below.

General - writ of execution

The procedure for issuing a writ of execution (defined as a writ of fieri facias, a writ of possession, a writ of delivery, a writ of sequestration or a writ in aid of any other such writ) is given in GCR Order 46. Save in certain circumstances, a writ of execution may be issued without the leave of the court. However, where an application for leave to issue a writ of execution is required, it may be made ex parte unless the court directs it to be made by summons (and save for an application for leave to issue a writ of sequestration, which application must be made by motion to a judge, and served personally upon the person against whose property is the subject of the writ).

Any such application must be supported by an affidavit that identifies the judgment and provides various other information. The judge hearing the application may grant or refuse leave or, if necessary, may first order that any issue or question be tried. Where the application is for leave to issue a writ of sequestration, the judge may sit in private in any case in which, if the application were for an order for committal, they would be entitled to do so (ie, certain matters involving children, mental health, secrecy or national security, etc), though it shall otherwise be heard in open court.

As a formality, before a writ is issued, a praecipe for its issue (ie, a document signed by the person entitled to execution or, if represented, their attorney) must be filed.

Once issued, a writ of execution is valid for 12 months, which period may be extended by the court from time to time, if an application for extension is made before the writ expires.

Any party at whose instance a writ of execution has been issued may serve a notice on the bailiff to whom the writ was directed requiring them, within the time specified in the notice, to indorse on the writ a statement of the manner in which they have executed it, and to send that party a copy of the statement. If the bailiff fails to do so, the judgment creditor may seek an order requiring them to comply with the notice.

Garnishee proceedings

A garnishee is a person who is indebted to the judgment debtor, and who is therefore a person against whom execution may be sought provided the judgment is not for the payment of money into court.

The procedure for garnishee proceedings is given in GCR Order 49. In summary, an application must be made ex parte supported by an affidavit stating the name and last known address of the judgment debtor, identifying the judgment and stating the amount remaining unpaid, and stating that to the best of the deponent's information or belief (giving sources of that information or grounds for the belief), the garnishee (naming them) is within the jurisdiction and is indebted to the judgment debtor.

An order made pursuant to GCR Order 49, rule 1 shall in the first instance be an order to show cause, specifying the time and place for further consideration of the matter, etc. Unless the court otherwise directs, such an order must be served on the garnishee personally at least 14 days before the hearing date, and on the judg-

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

ment debtor at least seven days after the order has been served on the garnishee and at least seven days before the hearing date. Such an order shall "bind in the hands of the garnishee as from the service of the order on him [or her] any debt specified in the order so much thereof as may be so specified".

If the garnishee does not attend the hearing, or does not dispute the debt claimed to be due from them to the judgment debtor, the court may make the garnishee order absolute. Any such order may then be enforced in the same manner as any other order for the payment of money.

If the garnishee disputes liability to pay the debt claimed to be due from them to the judgment debtor, the court may summarily determine that question, or order that it be tried. Likewise, the court may determine or try any question as to whether the garnishee's debt is payable to a person other than the judgment debtor.

As to costs of the garnishee proceedings, the judgment creditor shall ordinarily be entitled to retain such sums out of the money recovered by them under the order and in priority to the judgment debt.

Charging orders, stop orders, etc

The procedure governing charging and stop orders is given in GCR Order 50. In summary, an application by a judgment creditor for a charging order in respect of a judgment debtor's beneficial interest in any property shall be made by an ex parte originating motion to show cause, specifying the time and place for further consideration of the matter and imposing the charge in any event until that time. Once again, a supporting affidavit is required to contain certain information.

If the order is granted, it must be served, together with the supporting affidavit, on the judgment

debtor. Where the order relates to securities (other than securities held in court), it must also be served upon the corporate entity concerned (and, in the case of securities issued by or on behalf of the Cayman Islands government, it must be served upon the Financial Secretary and the stock transfer agent, if any). Where the order relates to a fund in court, a copy shall be served on the Accountant General at the Court Funds Office. Where the order concerns an interest under a trust (not being a registered mutual fund), the court may direct that it be served upon the trustees. Such service (and any additional service directed by the court) must be effected at least seven days before the hearing date.

Upon further consideration of the matter, the court shall either make the order, with or without modifications, or discharge it.

If a charging order is made over an interest in land, it shall be registered in the encumbrances section of the relevant land register. Once any such order is made absolute, the judgment creditor may exercise their power of sale to sell the property by public auction in accordance with Section 75 of the Registered Land Law without applying to the court for an order for sale and without giving any notice in accordance with Section 72 of the Registered Land Law.

There are also specific procedural rules with respect to stop orders, the purpose of which is to prevent transfers in securities.

Attachment of earnings

Applications for an attachment of earnings order are made under GCR Order 50A. Such applications tend to be more straightforward than certain other methods of enforcement. In summary, the application shall be supported by an affidavit identifying the judgment or order in respect of which the attachment of earnings order is sought, verifying the amount due and stating

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

whether a writ of execution has been issued. The application must be served on the debtor, giving them eight days to file a statement of means.

On receipt of the debtor's reply, the judge may make an attachment of earnings order. The judge may also make a consolidated attachment order where the judgment debtor owes multiple judgment debts.

Equitable execution – the appointment of a receiver

GCR Order 51, rule 1 provides that where an application is made for the appointment of a receiver by way of equitable execution, the court, in determining whether it is just and equitable to do so, shall have regard to the amount claimed by the judgment creditor, to the likely amount to be obtained by the receiver and to the probable costs of their appointment. The court may direct an inquiry into any of these matters or any other matter before making the appointment.

GCR Order 51, rule 3 provides that any such application shall be made in accordance with GCR Order 30, rule 1 and that rules 2 to 6 of that Order shall apply as they would in relation to a receiver appointed for any other purpose. In summary, GCR Order 30, rule 1 provides that an application for the appointment of a receiver may be made by summons or motion, and it may be made in conjunction with an application for an injunction.

If any such application for an injunction is made ex parte, the court may grant the relief sought, pending a return date hearing. GCR Order 30, rules 2 to 6 provide, in summary, that a receiver may be required to give security, that they shall be allowed such proper remuneration as may be authorised by the court, that service of the order or judgment appointing the receiver must be made on the receiver and all other parties, that the receiver shall submit accounts to the

court, and that the court may fix the amounts and frequency of payments into court to be made by the receiver.

Sequestration and committal for contempt

Since enforcement via sequestration and/or committal for contempt is very rare, the detailed procedures are beyond the scope of this chapter.

2.3 Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Domestic Judgments

The costs and time taken to enforce a domestic judgment will depend upon factors such as the complexity of the case, the nature of the assets that are sought to be enforced against, and the degree of resistance from the judgment debtor (see 2.6 Unenforceable Domestic Judgments).

A simple enforcement action in respect of a money judgment against a natural person might be completed within a matter of weeks at minimal expense, typically via a charging order and/or an attachment of earnings or garnishee order.

However, the enforcement of a high-value judgment in a complex commercial case may be time-consuming and expensive. For instance, any application for the appointment of a receiver may be strongly opposed, resulting in detailed legal arguments and one or more hearings. Assets may need to be frozen to avoid them being dissipated before enforcement is complete. Such enforcement actions may only be worthwhile where the amounts involved are large and there are reasonable prospects of making recoveries. A prudent litigant will have considered enforcement at an early stage and will have an enforcement strategy to ensure any judgment in its favour will be enforceable.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has had some impact upon the Cayman Islands judicial admin-

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

istration, the courts have generally continued to operate without substantial delays.

2.4 Post-judgment Procedures for Determining Defendants' Assets

Where the judgment creditor has obtained a money judgment, they may apply for an order requiring the judgment debtor (or, if the debtor is a company, an officer of the company) to attend before a judge and be orally examined under oath as to their debts and means of satisfying the judgment debt. The court may also order the judgment debtor or officer to produce relevant books or documents at the examination. Procedurally, an application for examination of a judgment debtor must be supported by an affidavit giving certain particulars, and any such order must be served personally on the judgment debtor or officer of a company ordered to attend for examination.

Following the examination, the judge shall certify a written record of the judgment debtor's testimony.

2.5 Challenging Enforcement of Domestic Judgments

The Cayman Islands court will not consider whether the proceedings in which the judgment was given were validly served on the judgment debtor unless that issue is specifically raised.

The ability of a debtor to challenge the enforcement of a domestic judgment depends upon the nature of the enforcement method and the circumstances of the case.

The court has the power to stay a writ of fieri facias where the judgment debtor or any other party liable to execution upon a money order establishes, upon making an application, that there are special circumstances why the judgment should not be enforced or the applicant is unable to pay the money.

In light of the economic hardship caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the courts may more readily find that there are special circumstances justifying a stay of enforcement actions taken against an individual or local business. However, enforcement actions in complex international cases will largely be unaffected by such factors.

Nonetheless, certain complex methods of enforcement already involve the judgment debtor having a degree of latitude in challenging the enforcement. Equitable execution (via the appointment of a receiver) is rarely straightforward since it involves the exercise of the court's discretion. For instance, the court has declined to appoint a receiver over a bankrupt's assets in favour of a single judgment creditor since that would exclude all of the bankrupt's other creditors. However, Gayhart & Anor v Schanck (Grand Court, unreported judgment of Kawaley J dated 14 August 2020) confirms that the court will in appropriate cases "pierce the corporate veil" in order to permit enforcement of a judgment debt via equitable execution.

On the application of a judgment debtor, the court may grant a stay of execution pending an appeal against the judgment. An appeal does not automatically give rise to any stay of execution; however, the court has a discretion to grant a stay, and it will ordinarily do so where the applicant establishes a good reason, such as the risk of a successful appeal being rendered nugatory. The applicant must satisfy the court that it has a real prospect of success on appeal, that the appeal is bona fide and the balance of convenience favours a stay. No stay will be granted if the respondent would be unfairly prejudiced by being deprived of the proceeds of the judgment.

These principles were confirmed in the recent decision in Deputy Registrar v Day [2019 (1) CILR 510], a high-profile case concerning same-sex marriage rights. If the judgment is for payment

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

of a sum of money and the court is satisfied having regard to all relevant factors (including the strength or weakness of the grounds of appeal) that a stay should be granted, the whole judgment sum will usually be ordered to be paid into court unless there is good cause for not imposing that requirement (Shanda Games Limited v Maso Capital Investment Limited & Ors, Cayman Islands Court of Appeal, unreported, 18 August 2017). The court may also grant a partial stay, whereby an undisputed part of the judgment debt is satisfied and the disputed balance is paid into court (for example, In the matter of Nord Anglia Education, Inc, Grand Court, unreported judgment of Kawaley J dated 26 May 2020).

If the trial judge refuses to grant a stay of execution, the applicant may renew its application to the Cayman Islands Court of Appeal.

2.6 Unenforceable Domestic Judgments

Generally, all judgments made by the Cayman Islands courts are capable of being enforced.

A judgment creditor will be unable to enforce a judgment that the judgment debtor successfully applies to be set aside; for example, on the grounds that a default judgment was irregular on account of the proceedings never having been served on the defendant.

2.7 Register of Domestic Judgments

The judicial administration maintains a public register of originating processes, orders and judgments, save to the extent such documents have been determined by the court to be confidential or are otherwise sealed.

This register contains a copy of every final written judgment unless the court directs otherwise. The register does not contain any additional or separate record of any information such as the amounts paid under any judgments, and a judgment will not be removed from the register once it has been satisfied.

3. FOREIGN JUDGMENTS

3.1 Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Foreign Judgments

The Cayman Islands has a well-established regime for the enforcement of foreign judgments.

The Cayman Islands has enacted the Foreign Judgments Reciprocal Enforcement Law (1996 Revision) in respect of foreign money judgments; however, this legislation has to date only been extended to Australia and its external territories. All other foreign judgments must be enforced under common law rules, which, in summary, provide for enforcement where:

- the court issuing the judgment had personal jurisdiction over the defendant;
- the judgment is final and conclusive; and
- the judgment has not been obtained by fraud or in breach of natural justice, and is not contrary to Cayman Islands public policy.

Therefore, the legal issues concerning the enforcement of foreign judgments typically involve challenges to enforcement on the grounds that one or more of these requirements has not been fulfilled.

3.2 Variations in Approach to Enforcement of Foreign Judgments

As noted in **3.1 Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Foreign Judgments**, Australian money judgments are enforceable in Cayman under the Foreign Judgments Reciprocal Enforcement Law, whereas all other judgments are subject to common law enforcement.

The Cayman Islands courts routinely enforce foreign money judgments made in personam.

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

Historically, enforcement was not available in respect of non-monetary foreign judgments; however, the courts will now enforce such judgments in certain circumstances, such as where the principles of comity require it.

For instance, in Bandone v Sol Properties Inc. [2008 CILR 301], the court ordered rectification of a share register in favour of the plaintiff as a means of enforcing Brunei orders for specific performance against one of the defendants, Prince Jefri Bolkiah of Brunei. According to the judgment, judicial discretion is required to maintain the integrity of the Cayman Islands judicial system. The court should have regard to comity, fairness and mutuality, and ensure that domestic law is not extended to suit foreign litigation. On the facts, Prince Jefri had failed to show that the court should not recognise and enforce the Brunei orders in the exercise of that discretion.

3.3 Categories of Foreign Judgments Not Enforced

The judgment in Bandone confirmed that the Cayman Islands courts will not enforce a foreign in rem judgment with respect to Cayman property. Likewise, the courts will not enforce judgments that relate to the penal or public laws of another country or unpaid foreign taxes. However, these limitations do not apply to a judgment arising from foreign statutory breaches that gives rise to a private law remedy.

Pursuant to the Trusts Law, a foreign judgment that a Cayman trust or trust disposition is void or liable to be set aside because such trusts are not recognised under the relevant foreign law, or because of matrimonial or certain other rights existing in the foreign jurisdiction, will not be enforced.

The requirements stated in 3.1 Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Foreign Judgments must also be satisfied (see further 3.6

Challenging Enforcement of Foreign Judgments).

3.4 Process of Enforcing Foreign Judgments

The procedure for enforcing a foreign judgment involves issuing a writ of summons suing for the foreign judgment debt, serving the writ upon the defendant and then ordinarily seeking summary judgment (or default judgment in the absence of an acknowledgment of service). The court will usually not re-hear the merits of the underlying action, although the court will hear any challenge to the recognition and enforcement of the judgment (see 3.6 Challenging Enforcement of Foreign Judgments). Upon judgment being granted in the writ action, it will be enforceable in the same manner as a domestic judgment.

3.5 Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Foreign Judgments

As with any other aspect of the enforcement process, the time and costs involved will depend substantially upon the degree of resistance from the judgment debtor, and the complexity of any resulting dispute.

At its simplest, a Cayman Islands judgment for the enforcement of a foreign money judgment, which faces little or no resistance, may be obtained within a matter of weeks and at modest expense.

On the other hand, any robust and persistent challenge to the recognition and enforcement of a foreign judgment, particularly one involving complex non-monetary remedies, such as in Bandone, can be expensive and time-consuming. The judgment creditor is typically unable to control such matters since they depend largely upon the nature and degree of the resistance made by the judgment debtor. However, the court will be cognisant of a judgment debtor

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

simply seeking to delay enforcement of a foreign judgment against it.

3.6 Challenging Enforcement of Foreign Judgments

The recognition and enforcement of a foreign judgment may be challenged on the grounds that one or more of the requirements outlined in **3.1 Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Foreign Judgments** are not satisfied.

As to the requirement for the foreign court to have had personal jurisdiction over the judgment debtor, the Cayman Islands court must be satisfied that the debtor was either present in the foreign jurisdiction at the time the proceedings were instituted, participated as a plaintiff or counter-claimant in those proceedings, voluntarily appeared as a defendant, or submitted to the foreign court's jurisdiction as a defendant by prior agreement. By definition, this means that the foreign proceedings must have been served upon the debtor. Such matters may constitute a triable issue that precludes the grant of a summary judgment in a writ enforcement action.

As to finality, a foreign judgment will be treated as final and conclusive if it is regarded as res judicata by the foreign court. A judgment entered in default of appearance by a defendant who has had notice of the foreign court's intention to proceed may be final and conclusive even though the court has the power to set aside its own judgment.

However, the principle of res judicata is to be applied with caution to earlier proceedings resolved by a judgment in default, and the Cayman Islands court may give leave to defend if the case was decided upon documentary evidence alone and the issue upon which the defendant seeks to rely was not a necessary element in the foreign court's judgment. Judgment will not be considered final for the purposes of Cayman

Islands enforcement unless/until any foreign appeals procedure has been exhausted. Where enforcement is sought via recognition of foreign receivership proceedings, a foreign receivership order does not create any conclusive and final obligation capable of being enforced in the Cayman Islands.

As to fraud or breach of natural justice, the judgment debtor will be estopped from pleading any such challenge if they consented to the judgment. A foreign judgment will be impeachable for fraud only on the basis of newly discovered material facts that were not before the foreign court. Likewise, it will be assumed that foreign proceedings have been conducted according to the proper procedure unless the contrary is shown.

4. ARBITRAL AWARDS

4.1 Legal Issues Concerning Enforcement of Arbitral Awards

The Cayman Islands is a pro-arbitration jurisdiction in which arbitral awards are readily enforceable in accordance with international norms. The Arbitration Law, 2012 (the "Arbitration Law") is based on the widely adopted UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration. Together with the Foreign Arbitral Awards Enforcement Law (1997 Revision) (the "Enforcement Law"), the Arbitration Law gives effect to the 1958 Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards (the "New York Convention").

The Arbitration Law provides that an arbitral award made pursuant to an arbitration agreement may, with the leave of the court, be enforced in the same manner as a judgment or order of the court to the same effect. Upon the grant of leave, judgment may be entered in the terms of the award.

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

The Arbitration Law further provides that an arbitral award made in any country shall be recognised as binding and, upon application to the court, shall be enforced subject to the provisions of Sections 6 and 7 of the Enforcement Law (whether or not the award was made in a New York Convention contracting state; ie, a "convention award").

Section 6 of the Enforcement Law concerns the application procedure for seeking enforcement of a foreign award (see **4.4 Process of Enforcing Arbitral Awards**) and Section 7 concerns the (narrow) grounds upon which enforcement of such an award may be resisted (see **4.3 Categories of Arbitral Awards Not Enforced**).

4.2 Variations in Approach to Enforcement of Arbitral Awards

The Enforcement Law does not apply to an arbitral award made in investor-state arbitrations. There is an alternative statutory enforcement mechanism for such awards pursuant to the Arbitration (International Investment Disputes) Act 1966 (Application to Colonies Etc.) Order 1967, by which the UK extended certain provisions of the Arbitration (International Investment Disputes) Act 1966 to the Cayman Islands. By these means, the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States (known as the Washington Convention) has been given effect in the Cayman Islands.

4.3 Categories of Arbitral Awards Not Enforced

In accordance with the Arbitration Law, no arbitral award shall be enforced where, or to the extent that, the arbitral tribunal lacked jurisdiction to make the award. The additional grounds upon which a foreign arbitral award may be refused are discussed in 4.6 Challenging Enforcement of Arbitral Awards.

4.4 Process of Enforcing Arbitral Awards

An application for leave to enforce an arbitral award is made by ex parte originating summons, supported by affidavit evidence.

In the case of a foreign award, Section 6 of the Enforcement Law provides that a party seeking to enforce a convention award shall adduce an original or certified copy of the award and the arbitration agreement, and a certified translation where the award is in a foreign language, and give certain other information.

Upon leave being granted, the order giving leave must be served on the respondent. If required, service outside of the jurisdiction is permitted without leave.

The respondent then ordinarily has 14 days from service of the order in which to apply to set it aside. The award shall not be enforced until either that time period has expired or the court has disposed of any application made within that period.

4.5 Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Arbitral Awards

A domestic arbitral award may readily be recognised as a court judgment, in which case the time and costs of enforcement will depend upon the factors outlined in **2.3 Costs and Time Taken to Enforce Domestic Judgments**.

The same applies to a foreign arbitral award unless the respondent applies to set aside the recognition order. The time and costs involved will depend upon the number and complexity of the grounds of resistance.

4.6 Challenging Enforcement of Arbitral Awards

As noted in **4.3 Categories of Arbitral Awards Not Enforced**, a domestic arbitral award will

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

ordinarily be enforced unless the arbitral tribunal lacked jurisdiction.

As to the enforcement of a foreign award, the grounds for potential refusal are set out in Section 7 of the Enforcement Law, which mirror those in Article 5 of the New York Convention. In summary, enforcement shall only be refused if it is established that:

- a party to the arbitration agreement was under some incapacity;
- · the arbitration agreement was not valid;
- the opposing party was not given proper notice of the appointment of the arbitrator or the arbitration proceedings, or was unable to present their case;
- the award goes beyond the scope of the arbitrable dispute;
- the composition of the arbitral authority or the arbitral procedure was defective;
- the making of the award was induced or affected by fraud, corruption or misconduct on the part of an arbitrator; or
- a breach of the rules of natural justice has prejudiced the rights of any party.

A refusal to enforce an award is rare, and one of the few instances of enforcement being refused by the Grand Court was subsequently overturned by the Court of Appeal in Gol Linhas Aereas SA (formerly VRG Linhas Aereas S.A.) v Matlin Patterson Global Opportunities Partners (Cayman) II L.P. & Ors (Cayman Islands Court of Appeal, unreported judgment dated 11 August 2020).

Generally, the Cayman Islands courts take a robust approach to the recognition and enforcement of foreign arbitral awards, while ensuring that the defendant is given an opportunity to apply for enforcement to be set aside. For instance, in Re China Hospitals Inc. [2018 (2) CILR 335] a petitioner was entitled to rely upon a Hong Kong arbitral award as the basis for seeking to wind up a company even though the award was subject to a set-aside application in Hong Kong. An indemnity costs order has been made against a defendant who pursued a collateral action with the purpose of frustrating the enforcement of a convention award.

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells

Campbells is a leading full-service offshore law firm established in 1970. From its offices in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong, the firm provides comprehensive corporate and litigation advice and services to clients worldwide in relation to Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands law. Campbells is regularly trusted to advise some of the most prominent names in finance, investment and insurance, and is frequently involved in the largest and most complex transactions, disputes and insolvencies in both jurisdictions. The firm's

clients range from large international, financial and trading organisations to liquidators and trustees in bankruptcy of international and local entities, participants in investment and trust structures, family offices and government agencies. Campbells is a leader in advising financial service providers and other clients in connection with local and overseas regulatory investigations. Its litigators also appear regularly as expert witnesses in foreign proceedings and speak at local and international conferences.

AUTHORS



Guy Manning is a partner and head of the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells. He has acted for creditors, shareholders, provisional and official

liquidators, directors, managers and other professional service providers in relation to the restructuring and liquidation of numerous Cayman Islands companies and other entities. Guy also has a busy general litigation practice involving widely varying commercial contexts and structures, but with a particular emphasis on shareholder and investment fund disputes. He has been involved in most of the jurisdiction's highest-profile disputes, liquidations and restructurings over the past decade.



Andrew Pullinger is a partner in the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells, specialising in commercial litigation, international arbitration and

dispute resolution. He has extensive experience acting for clients in complex and high-value disputes, typically with a cross-border element. He has particular expertise in advising clients in respect of investment fund and other financial services disputes (especially claims against administrators, custodians and auditors), professional negligence claims, private equity disputes and a broad range of contractual disputes. Andrew's clients have included foreign governments, major banks, leading professional services firms and other multinationals spanning a number of sectors.

Contributed by: Guy Manning, Andrew Pullinger and Shaun Tracey, Campbells



Shaun Tracey is counsel in the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells. He represents investment funds, directors, trustees, professional firms and

their insurers in high-value litigation and arbitration. Shaun is an expert in professional liability and is the author of "Don't Shoot the Advisor: a defence lawyer's guide to protecting your position and preventing lawsuits". He specialises in commercial litigation, professional liability litigation, fiduciary services litigation, insolvency litigation, fraud and regulatory investigations, as well as trusts and insurance litigation.

Campbells

Cricket Square Willow House Floor 4 George Town Grand Cayman Cayman Islands

Tel: +1 345 949 2648

Email: apullinger@campbellslegal.com Web: www.campbellslegal.com



Trends and Developments

Contributed by:

Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston Campbells see p.20

Enforcement is one of the key issues for anyone pursuing legal action. Even if a party "wins" by obtaining judgment in their favour, that judgment may have little, if any, value if it cannot promptly and cost-effectively be enforced. This is especially true for money judgments. Like most areas of the law, enforcement moves with the times; this article considers some recent trends and developments concerning the enforcement of judgments and arbitral awards in the Cayman Islands.

Enforcing Foreign Arbitral Awards in the Cayman Islands

In Gol Linhas Aereas SA (formerly VRG Linhas Aereas S.A.) v Matlin Patterson Global Opportunities Partners (Cayman) II L.P. & Ors, the Cayman Islands Court of Appeal (CICA) overturned a 2019 judgment of the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (Mangatal J), which had been a rare example of the Cayman courts refusing to enforce a foreign arbitral award under the 1958 New York Convention. The CICA thus restored the orthodox position that the courts will be robust in enforcing foreign arbitral awards in Cayman.

The case concerned several parties to the purchase of an aviation company. Post-acquisition, the purchaser and its parent acquired a passenger airline business but later sold it to a third party. A disagreement arose in relation to the final onward sale of the passenger airline business and the matter was referred to arbitration in Brazil. The successful party in the Brazilian arbitration then sought to enforce the arbitral award in the Cayman Islands. Justice Mangatal had refused to enforce the award on the basis that the entity against which enforcement was

sought was not a party to the relevant arbitration agreement, and rejected the application of the civil law doctrine of iura novit curia ("the court knows the law"), thereby departing from the Brazilian courts' judgments in the matter.

The CICA held that "the doctrine of competence-competence does not mean the exclusion of the courts, or that the courts are prima facie bound by the arbitrators' solution" - the ability of a supervisory court or any enforcing court to re-examine de novo any challenge to jurisdiction is fundamental to international arbitration however, the consideration of an enforcing court may alter where an arbitral award has already been the subject of review or enforcement action before the supervisory court (the jurisdiction of which is never in question). In such a scenario, the CICA observed that the judgment of the supervisory court will have "particular significance" and that it was intuitively surprising that the Grand Court had differed from the Brazilian courts on their findings concerning Brazilian law. Indeed, the best evidence of Brazilian law was from the Brazilian courts themselves.

The CICA then turned to consider whether enforcement could be opposed on due process and public policy grounds. The CICA recognised that the due process and public policy standards to be tested are those of the enforcing court; however, proper regard must be given to the views of the foreign court or foreign arbitral tribunal on any applicable foreign procedure (ie, the doctrine of iura novit curia, which the CICA observed had not previously been rejected as being contrary to substantial justice under English or Cayman law). The CICA held that Mangatal J was mistaken to have disregarded the doctrine

CAYMAN ISLANDS TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS

Contributed by: Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston, Campbells

as falling outside of Cayman law considerations, and that it was proper for the Cayman courts to weigh it in support of enforcement, just as the Brazilian courts had done.

However, although the first-instance judgment was overturned, the CICA imposed a stay of the enforcement action pending a final outcome of the Brazilian litigation.

The 2019 Hague Convention on Enforcing Judgments

A significant development in the enforcement of judgments, not only in the Cayman Islands but globally, is the recently concluded (but not yet in force) Hague Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters 2019 (the "Judgments Convention"). Although there are currently only two signatories (Ukraine and Uruguay), it is hoped that the Judgment Convention will facilitate the efficient and cost-effective recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments among a significant number of member states in much the same way as the 1958 New York Convention successfully operates with respect to arbitral awards. The UK is understood to be considering whether it will become a member state of the Judgments Convention, a decision that will be informed in part by its final Brexit arrangements with the EU. If the UK does join the Judgments Convention, it is likely that the Convention will be extended to British Overseas Territories, including the Cayman Islands.

As the name suggests, the Judgments Convention requires contracting states to recognise and enforce judgments given in civil or commercial matters within other contracting states. Judgments able to be enforced pursuant to the Judgments Convention are at first blush quite wide and extend to any decision given on the merits by any court. The definition of "judgments" also specifically includes a decree or order and there-

fore includes monetary judgments, non-monetary judgments and costs/expenses judgments. However, the Judgments Convention does not apply to certain family law matters, probate, insolvency and analogous matters, the dissolution of legal persons or associations, arbitration and related proceedings, interim measures of protection, and intellectual property. Furthermore, a judgment will only be recognised abroad if it is effective and capable of being enforced in the state of origin. Finally, the Judgments Convention will only apply to a judgment if both of the contracting states (ie, the state in which the judgment was given and the state in which it is sought to be enforced) were parties to the Judgments Convention at the time the original proceedings were instituted.

Unsurprisingly, the Judgments Convention will not apply to any judgment obtained where there was a fundamental defect in serving the claim on the defendant, where the judgment was obtained by fraud, where the judgment is contrary to the public policy of the receiving state, or where there are inconsistent rulings between the parties on the same subject matter.

Article 5 provides the bases for recognition and enforcement of judgments, only one of which must be met in order for the judgment to be enforceable. For example, if the party against which a judgment is sought to be enforced was, at the time of the judgment, habitually resident in the originating state, then that will be enough to found jurisdiction. Likewise, if a defendant maintained a branch, agency or other establishment in the originating state, or if the defendant argued on the merits of the case, or the judgment ruled on a contractual obligation and the court that gave the judgment was in the place of performance of the obligation, then jurisdiction will be found.

TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS CAYMAN ISLANDS

Contributed by: Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston, Campbells

It is clear that the intention of the Judgments Convention is to facilitate the enforcement of foreign judgments as between contracting states in as many circumstances as possible. However, as is usual with these types of conventions, there are "opt-out" provisions for contracting states, including that a state can opt not to apply the Judgments Convention to a specific type of matter or can refuse to have a reciprocal relationship with another contracting state.

In practice, the Judgments Convention should have the effect of reducing costs, promoting access to justice, encouraging cross-border trade and providing more certainty (or comfort) to commercial parties undertaking international trade. However, how effective the Judgments Convention will be remains to be seen. Key to its success is the number of contracting states that ratify the convention, ensuring the key players in international trade do so, and how long that takes. The concept of the Judgments Convention is a sound one and the Convention may have a significant impact on the enforcement of foreign judgments in the Cayman Islands if and when it is extended to the jurisdiction.

Enforcement and Digital Assets

The recent explosion of digital assets and related exchanges is a hot topic in the Cayman Islands, and the jurisdiction has seen exponential growth in the legal marketplace in these areas as Cayman seeks to position itself as a leading fintech jurisdiction. As with many new areas of industry and law, it takes a certain amount of time for government to pass statutes and regulations governing the area. This is true for the Cayman Islands, which, like many jurisdictions, is grappling with questions concerning the regulation of digital assets and related legal issues such as enforcement against digital assets, which are dematerialised and frequently not amenable to traditional enforcement methods.

The first issue in enforcing against digital assets is whether they are, in law, considered "property". Cayman Islands law traditionally recognises two forms of "property": a "chose in possession" (ie, tangible property) and a "chose in action" (eg, a cash balance in a bank). The difficulty with digital assets is that, under this traditional definition of "property", they are neither choses in possession nor choses in action. Helpfully, however, the English High Court, the judgments of which are highly persuasive in the Cayman Islands, has determined that digital assets can properly be described as "property". In the important recent case of AA v Persons Unknown [2019] EWHC 3556 (Comm), the Commercial Division of the High Court granted an injunction over bitcoin and in doing so held that digital currencies satisfy the four classic criteria of property, namely, they are:

- definable;
- · identifiable by third parties;
- capable in their nature of assumption by third parties; and
- · have some degree of permanence.

Now that digital assets are considered "property", the next development in the law will be how in practice the courts and judgment creditors enforce against digital assets. Until such time as any bespoke regulation is enacted, the existing methods of enforcement will need to be adapted and applied as best they can.

In practice, however, enforcing against digital assets such as cryptocurrencies will likely present significant challenges for judgment creditors, especially in circumstances where the judgment debtor does not wish to part with their assets. The main reason is the very nature of cryptocurrencies themselves; they are intangible assets. The only "real world" evidence of their existence is the private "key" (or password) used to access the funds. Even then these "keys" can

CAYMAN ISLANDS TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS

Contributed by: Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston, Campbells

also be intangible if they are not physically stored on a digital memory device or written down. Furthermore, there are no third-party intermediaries in blockchain transactions and there is no central authority that can revoke, avoid or trace a transaction once completed. What's more, the person possessing the digital key to access the cryptocurrency has complete control over the assets. The digital key can be online or offline, and if offline, can be moved with ease across jurisdictions. The cryptocurrency itself does not exist in any one jurisdiction.

If a judgment debtor wishes to avoid making digital assets available to satisfy judgments against them, then significant issues are likely to arise because the vast majority of traditional enforcement measures simply do not cater for digital assets.

For example, a judgment creditor may seek to enforce against digital assets by way of a writ of fieri facias, whereby the bailiff is instructed to seize the judgment debtor's assets and sell them to satisfy the debt. At first blush this may seem like a simple and effective method of enforcement. However, the first step will be identifying the location of the assets. If the person holding the digital key refuses to reveal its location, then

its location will need to be independently identified. Independent identification of the digital key's location can be extremely difficult since it can be on a USB (or several), a piece of paper or even memorised; any or all of these can be spread across the globe, giving rise to jurisdictional issues. Even if the digital key is located and seized, there are likely to be practical difficulties if the bailiff or other seizing entity is not tech savvy because a third party may have a copy of the digital key and could simply move the cryptocurrency to another digital address. So the bailiff would need to be able to transfer the funds to a new cryptocurrency address before that opportunity arose. It is also likely that most local law enforcement is not yet familiar with what a digital asset is, how it can be accessed, or how it can be secured.

By the example above, it can be seen that enforcement against digital assets is a complex one that, given the nature of digital assets, spans the globe. Cayman has a proven track record in enacting legislation that keeps up with and complements global developments, and the judiciary is stable and quick to adapt to change. As such, the Cayman Islands remains a jurisdiction where judgment creditors can confidently seek to enforce judgments against defendants.

TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS CAYMAN ISLANDS

Contributed by: Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston, Campbells

Campbells is a leading full-service offshore law firm established in 1970. From its offices in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong, the firm provides comprehensive corporate and litigation advice and services to clients worldwide in relation to Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands law. Campbells is regularly trusted to advise some of the most prominent names in finance, investment and insurance, and is frequently involved in the largest and most complex transactions, disputes and insolvencies in both jurisdictions. The firm's

clients range from large international, financial and trading organisations to liquidators and trustees in bankruptcy of international and local entities, participants in investment and trust structures, family offices and government agencies. Campbells is a leader in advising financial service providers and other clients in connection with local and overseas regulatory investigations. Its litigators also appear regularly as expert witnesses in foreign proceedings and speak at local and international conferences.

AUTHORS



Andrew Pullinger is a partner in the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells, specialising in commercial litigation, international arbitration and

dispute resolution. He has extensive experience acting for clients in complex and high-value disputes, typically with a cross-border element. He has particular expertise in advising clients in respect of investment fund and other financial services disputes (especially claims against administrators, custodians and auditors), professional negligence claims, private equity disputes and a broad range of contractual disputes. Andrew's clients have included foreign governments, major banks, leading professional services firms and other multinationals spanning a number of sectors.



Shaun Tracey is counsel in the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells. He represents investment funds, directors, trustees, professional firms and

their insurers in high-value litigation and arbitration. Shaun is an expert in professional liability and is the author of "Don't Shoot the Advisor: a defence lawyer's guide to protecting your position and preventing lawsuits". He specialises in commercial litigation, professional liability litigation, fiduciary services litigation, insolvency litigation, fraud and regulatory investigations, as well as trusts and insurance litigation.

CAYMAN ISLANDS TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS

Contributed by: Andrew Pullinger, Shaun Tracey and Jeremy Durston, Campbells



Jeremy Durston is a senior associate in the litigation, insolvency and restructuring group at Campbells, where he specialises in commercial litigation, including directors'

duties, regulatory matters and crossjurisdictional treaty requests, white-collar fraud (including internet-based or "cyber-fraud") and related internal investigations, and insolvency matters such as advising liquidators on a wide range of issues faced during liquidation proceedings. Jeremy also regularly advises directors, banks, trust companies, insurance companies and other entities on a variety of non-contentious matters. Jeremy studied commerce in Canada and law in the United Kingdom and the Cayman Islands before being admitted to the Bar of England and Wales in 2008. He then worked out of a leading set of Chambers in the North West of England. During his time in the UK, Jeremy obtained extensive advocacy experience in the firstinstance and appellate courts relating to all manner of cases, including commercial disputes, white-collar crime and fraud. Jeremy joined Campbells in 2014.

Campbells

Cricket Square Willow House Floor 4 George Town Grand Cayman Cayman Islands

Tel: +1 345 949 2648

Email: apullinger@campbellslegal.com Web: www.campbellslegal.com

